# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SOLOMON WISE,	)
	)
Petitioner,	)
	)
VS.	)
	)
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
	)
Respondent. )	
	)

S. CT. CASE NO. SC96760 DCA CASE NO. 5D98-3123

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT AND THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

## **PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

SUSAN A. FAGAN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0845566 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Petitioner, Solomon Wise, was charged by the state, in an information filed on February 27, 1998, with possession of cocaine and driving with a suspended or revoked license. (R 55) On May 6, 1998, the Petitioner filed a motion to suppress certain evidence seized by the police as a result of an illegal detention and seizure of the Petitioner by the police. (R 81) A hearing was held on the motion to suppress on August 24, 1998, before Circuit Judge Warren Burk. (R 48-53) At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court denied the Petitioner's motion to suppress. (R 52-53, 99)

Petitioner entered a plea of no contest to both of the charged offenses, specifically reserving his right to appeal the trial court's ruling on the motion to suppress. (R 1-8, 100-101) The Petitioner received two concurrent sentences of 18 months probation for the charged offenses. (R 14-16, 109-116) The Petitioner timely filed a notice of appeal on November 16, 1998. (R 118) The office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent the Petitioner in this appeal on November 17, 1998. (R 124-125)

On appeal, Petitioner argued that the trial court erroneously denied the Petitioner's motion to suppress and that the trial court erroneously sentenced the petitioner. The Fifth District affirmed the trial court's denial of the Petitioner's motion to suppress and the Petitioner's sentences, citing <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 708 So.2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) (en banc), <u>rev. granted</u>, 718 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1998). <u>Wise v.</u> <u>State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D 2113 (Fla. 5th DCA, September 10, 1999) [See appendix] Petitioner filed a notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction on October 7, 1999. This Court accepted jurisdiction on January 6, 1999.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Deputy Clifton Singleton testified that at approximately 1:30 in the morning he and another deputy investigated a small red Nissan vehicle parked in front of an empty residence. (R 22-23) According to Deputy Singleton, when he and the other deputy began to look through the window of the vehicle with a flashlight, the Petitioner came out of a residence located next to the empty residence and approached the deputies. (R 23) Deputy Singleton further testified that the Petitioner explained he did not know how the vehicle got there and had not had any contact with the vehicle. (R 24) Subsequent to this, Deputy Singleton spoke with the owner of the vehicle, Christina Mick, and who did not have a driver's license. (R 24)

Deputy Singleton next testified that, at approximately 5:30 that same morning, he saw what he thought was the same red Nissan traveling around in another area in Merritt Island which prompted him to stop the vehicle in order to determine if Ms. Mick was driving. (R 24-25) This could not be determined from viewing the vehicle, according to Deputy Singleton, because of the vehicle having tinted windows. (R 25) Deputy Singleton additionally testified that, upon stopping the vehicle, he discovered the Petitioner was actually the driver of the vehicle, who he had previously learned also had a suspended driver's license. (R 25-26) Upon arresting the Petitioner and searching the vehicle, Deputy Singleton discovered a small white tissue under the driver's seat containing crack cocaine. (R 26-27)

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

POINT ONE: The Fifth District erroneously affirmed the trial court's denial of the Petitioner's motion to suppress based on the Petitioner being improperly stopped and detained by Deputy Singleton *without a reasonable suspicion that the* 

## **Petitioner was committing or about to commit any illegal activity**. The basis

offered by Deputy Singleton for detaining the Petitioner was that he had learned, prior to the Petitioner's illegal detention, that the owner of the vehicle, which was being driven by the Petitioner at the time of the detention, had a suspended license. This did not, however, standing by itself, provide a sufficient lawful basis upon which Deputy Singleton could stop the vehicle to "check" to see if the owner of the vehicle was, in fact, driving the vehicle. Under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and section 951.151, Florida Statutes, an investigatory stop by the police is unlawful unless it is premised upon a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. Because this suspicion was lacking in the instant case, according to Deputy Singleton's own testimony, the trial court should have granted the Petitioner's motion to suppress.

POINT TWO: The Fifth District erroneously affirmed the Petitioner's sentences of 18 months probation term for a second degree misdemeanor offense of driving with a suspended driver's license. This sentence exceeds the statutory maximum of 60 days permitted under section 775.082(4)(b), Florida Statutes, and

requires remand for resentencing as to the offense of driving with a suspended license. Further, as to both of the Petitioner's charged offenses, the Fifth District erroneously affirmed special conditions b, j, and portions of k of the Petitioner's written probation order which were not orally announced by the trial court and must, therefore, be struck by this Court, irrespective of no objection being made at sentencing.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### <u>POINT ONE</u>

# THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF THE PETITIONER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS

The Petitioner filed a motion to suppress based on the police illegally detaining him while driving an other individual's vehicle. (R 81-83) During the hearing on the motion to suppress, Deputy Singleton testified that he initially noticed a red Nissan vehicle parked lawfully on a residential street at 1:30 in the morning. (R 22-23) He subsequently learned, upon knocking on a nearby residence, that the owner of the vehicle, Christina Mick, did not have a driver's license. (R 24) Approximately four hours later, at 5:30 that same morning, Deputy Singleton testified that he saw what he felt was the same red Nissan vehicle traveling in another area of Merritt Island which prompted him to check the vehicle to see if Ms. Mick was driving. (R 24-25) The vehicle had tinted windows, however, which did not permit Deputy Singleton to tell who was driving the vehicle, so Deputy Singleton decided to stop the vehicle. (R 25, 39) This is when Deputy Singleton determined that the Petitioner was driving the vehicle and who was ultimately arrested for possession of cocaine and driving with a suspended driver's license. (R 26-27)

The trial court denied the Petitioner's motion to suppress solely on the basis of

Deputy Singleton investigating whether Ms. Mick was actually driving the vehicle and cited the authority of <u>State v. Barnett</u>, 572 So.2d 1033 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). (R 35-36) The facts *sub judice* are vastly different, however, from the factual circumstances existing in <u>Barnett</u>. To begin with, the police in *Barnett* were dealing with looking for an individual who had several outstanding warrants, who *was thought by the police* 

# to be found in a certain vehicle, and who the police knew often rode together

*with Mr. Barnett in the same vehicle*. *Id.*, 1034. In the case at bar, Deputy Singleton merely speculated that Ms. Mick *might be* driving the red Nissan she owned without a valid driver's license, but candidly acknowledged that this "hunch" was not because he actually saw Ms. Mick driving the vehicle. (R 25) In effect, Deputy Singleton only observed what he believed was the vehicle that he had seen parked several hours earlier, with tinted windows, on the road, but not the driver of the vehicle. (R 25) Moreover, there was no active arrest warrant for Ms. Mick and there were several other people present at the residence where Deputy Singleton had earlier spoken with the Petitioner and Ms. Dick who could have been driving the vehicle. (R 31-32)

Under the Florida Stop and Search statute, section 901.151, Florida Statutes, Article I, Sections 9 and 12 of the Florida Constitution, and the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution, an investigatory stop of an individual by the police is not permitted unless there is a <u>reasonable suspicion</u> that the individual is committing or has committed some type of criminal activity. <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U. S. 1 (1968); <u>Love v. State</u>, 706 So.2d 923 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). Such a founded suspicion must be based on more than mere speculation or a "hunch," but must be based on some "minimal level of objective justification" by the police officer for making the stop. <u>United States v. Sokolow</u>, 490 U. S. 1, 7 (1989). See also, <u>Brown v. State</u>, 687 So.2d 13 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) and <u>McCray v. State</u>, 657 So.2d 1 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994).

Although the trial court felt that Deputy Singleton could stop the vehicle the Petitioner was driving to "check out" whether or not <u>Ms. Mick</u> was driving, the prosecutor, Deputy Singleton, and the trial court, all failed to cite any factual circumstances which would have caused Deputy Singleton to have reasonably believed that Ms. Mick was actually driving the vehicle. In fact, Deputy Singleton candidly acknowledged that the *only* reason he stopped the vehicle with the tinted windows was to see if Ms. Mick *might* have been driving and that he had *no* indication prior to stopping the vehicle that any traffic violation had occurred or that any criminal activity had been committed by the unknown driver of the *vehicle*. (R 39) In essence, the <u>sole</u> purpose of the Petitioner's detention was investigatory in attempting to ascertain the identity of the driver of the Nissan. Crew v. State, 738 So.2d 352 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1999) Accordingly, there existed no lawful basis, predicated on a founded suspicion, upon which Deputy Singleton could have

stopped the red Nissan, especially since the vehicle may have been driven by any number of people besides the Petitioner or Ms. Mick. <u>Melton v. State</u>, 698 So.2d 1287 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). The trial court's denial of the Petitioner's motion to suppress was, therefore, incorrect and should have been reversed by the Fifth District without Deputy Singleton providing a founded, lawful suspicion to stop the Petitioner's vehicle.

#### POINT TWO

# THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY AFFIRMED THE PETITIONER'S ILLEGAL SENTENCES

The Petitioner received a sentence of 18 months probation for the second degree misdemeanor offense of driving a vehicle with a suspended driver's license. (R 14-16, 109-116) Under section 322.34(2)(a), Florida Statutes, the first offense of driving with a suspended driver's license is a second degree misdemeanor punishable by a maximum of 60 days imprisonment. See Section 775.082(4)(b), Florida Statutes. Accordingly, the Petitioner's 18 month probation term exceeds the 60 day statutory maximum for a second degree misdemeanor offense of driving with a suspended driver's license is required for that offense.

In addition, the Fifth District should have struck special conditions b, j, and portions of k of Petitioner's written probation order as to both of the charged offenses. (R 114) Because the trial court did not orally pronounce special probation conditions b and j, pertaining to prohibiting the Petitioner from consuming alcohol or going to a bar without the permission of his probation officer, these special conditions should be stricken by this Court. (R 14) <u>Burch v. State</u>, 724 So.2d 718 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). As for special condition k of the Petitioner's written probation order, the trial court orally pronounced that the Petitioner would only be financially responsible for *paying for random urinalysis*. (R 14) Therefore, those portions of special condition k,

which require the Petitioner to be financially responsible for *any breathalyzer tests and blood tests*, should be stricken since they were not orally pronounced by the trial court at sentencing. (R 14, 114) <u>State v. Williams</u>, 712 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1998). The aforementioned unpronounced special probation conditions on the Petitioner's written probation orders should, therefore, have been stricken by the Fifth District as to both of the charged offenses.

The Fifth District relied on its decision in <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 708 So.2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), rev. granted, 718 So.2d (Fla. 1998), in affirming the Petitioner's aforementioned sentences. <u>Wise v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D 2113 (Fla. 5th DCA September 10, 1999). Specifically, the Fifth District held in <u>Maddox</u>, <u>supra</u>, that any sentencing errors, even those previously held by the district courts and this Court to be "fundamental" in nature, are waived on direct appeal under Section 924.051, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996), if they are not objected to at sentencing or 30 days thereafter. Petitioner would submit that this analysis by the Fifth District is incorrect, particularly when dealing with fundamental sentencing errors.

As pointed out by the Second District in <u>Bain v. State</u>, 730 So.2d 296 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999):

"...appellate review of fundamental error is, by its nature, an exception to the requirement of preservation...no rule of preservation can impliedly abrogate the fundamental error doctrine because <u>the doctrine is an exception to every such</u> <u>rule</u>. It <u>makes no difference this particular rule</u> <u>is codified</u>." [Emphasis added] <u>Id</u>. at 302

Petitioner would submit that this is the appropriate reasoning which this Court should adopt in lieu of that adopted by the Fifth District in Maddox, and relied on by the Fifth District in resolving the instant case. See also, Marrero v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2242 (Fla. 3rd DCA September 29, 1999); <u>Nelson v. State</u>, 719 So.2d 1230 (Fla.1st DCA 1998), Sanders v. State, 698 So.2d 377, 378 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), and Powell v. State, 719 So.2d 963 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). Accordingly, the Fifth District's holding in the case sub judice that, under Maddox, supra, Section 924.051, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996), bars appellate review of the aforementioned sentencing errors is erroneous. This cause should, therefore, be remanded for resentencing as to each of the instant offenses, for the imposition of corrected written probation orders, which accurately reflect the trial court's oral sentencing pronouncements, and to conform the sentence for the driving with a suspended license offense within the statutory maximum of 60 days for a second degree misdemeanor.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the authorities cited herein, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court, reverse the Fifth District's affirmance of the trial court's denial of the Petitioner's motion to suppress and the Petitioner's sentences, and, as to Point One, vacate the Petitioner's judgments and sentences, and order that the Petitioner be discharged as to the instant offenses, or alternatively, as to Point Two, to remand the driving with a suspended license second degree misdemeanor offense for resentencing within the 60 day statutory maximum, as well as striking special conditions b, j, and portions of k of the Petitioner's written probation orders for both of the charged offenses which were not orally pronounced by the trial court.