## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SOLOMON WISE,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC96760

STATE OF FLORIDA,

DCA case no.: 5D98-3123

Respondent.

## ON REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

\_\_\_\_/

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #618550

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #773026 FIFTH FLOOR 444 SEABREEZE BLVD. DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

The trial court found that the facts established a reasonable suspicion that the person operating the vehicle was driving with a suspended driver's license making the search incident to arrest lawful. (R 52-53). The Petitioner argued on appeal that the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress submitting that the officer did not have reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop of the car since the officer did not know who was driving. The State disagreed and cited to the Fifth District Court of Appeal the case of <u>Smith v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 300 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). It was the position of the State that the facts in <u>Smith</u> were very similar

to the Petitioner's situation. The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's determination; however, this case also involves an unpreserved sentencing issue which is the second issue in this brief. It is the position of the State that the trial court and the appellate court were correct that the facts of this case clearly support a finding of reasonable suspicion for the stop involved in this case.

All the officer needed for a temporary detention was a founded or reasonable suspicion. Reasonable suspicion has been defined as "such suspicion as would warrant a person of reasonable caution in the belief that a stop is appropriate, and is a less demanding standard than that for probable cause." Brown v. State, 719 So. 2d 1243, 1245 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998); Johnson v. State, 696 So. 2d 1271, 1273 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). Additionally, "[a] court's evaluation of reasonable suspicion is guided by common sense and ordinary human experience." State v. Malone, 729 So. 2d 1008 (Fla. 5th DCA April 9, 1999); State v. Burns, 698 So. 2d 1282, 1284 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). Additionally, founded suspicion is one based upon facts and circumstances observed and interpreted by the officer in light of his knowledge and experience. Brown v. State, 687 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). In determining whether an officer has reasonable suspicion to justify an investigative stop, each case is evaluated on its own particular facts. <u>Brown</u>, at 1245. The appropriate question in each case is whether the action was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances as interpreted in light of the officer's own knowledge. Id.

The facts in the previously cited case <u>Smith</u> showed that the defendant was operating a vehicle in a high crime area. A patrol officer ran the vehicle's tag and discovered that the owner of the vehicle did not have a valid license. <u>Smith</u>, 574 So. 2d at 300. Although the officer was not familiar with the owner of the vehicle, the officer initiated a traffic stop to determine if the operator had a valid driver's license. The owner was not driving, but Smith, who was the operator, admitted that his license was A search incident to the arrest for driving while suspended. license suspended violation revealed a concealed firearm. Id. The Fifth District Court of Appeal wrote that "an officer's investigatory detention of a vehicle's driver is supported by wellfounded suspicion of unlawful activity when the officer first determines that the vehicle's registered owner does not possess a valid driver's license." Id. at 301.1

As in <u>Smith</u>, the officer had discovered prior to stopping the vehicle that the owner of the vehicle did not have a valid driver's license. According to the Fifth District Court of Appeal's holding in <u>Smith</u>, these facts alone were sufficient to establish a reasonable suspicion to justify the traffic stop of the red Nissan.

However, the facts in this case provide even greater support

The Petitioner filed a reply brief in the appellate court attempting to distinguish <u>Smith</u> or in the alternative asking the Fifth District Court of Appeal to certify a question to this Court if it found it to be controlling.

for the trial court's determination that the officer had a reasonable suspicion for the stop. For example, Singleton was familiar with both persons recently connected to this vehicle. The officer knew that neither the owner of the vehicle nor the Petitioner possessed a valid license. When Singleton had encountered the Petitioner, the Petitioner initially lied as to having any connection to the car, but he then admitted knowing the car's owner and having arrived in the car. Singleton saw the red Nissan within six or seven blocks from its original location and only a few hours after his initial contact with the Petitioner and (R 34). Thus, it was reasonable to believe that one of the Mick. two unlicensed people who had recently traveled to that area in the red Nissan would be driving it out of that area, too.

The trial court at the hearing also referred to the case of <u>State v. Barnett</u>, 572 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). The officers in <u>Barnett</u> had a warrant for a defendant and stopped Barnett's car based upon their knowledge that the defendant often rode with Barnett. <u>Id</u>. at 1033. Like the instant case, the officers could not see into the car because of dark tint. <u>Id</u>. However, unlike this case, the officers quickly determined that the defendant for which they were looking was not in the car. They next asked Barnett for his driver's license, and after determining that he did not have one, the officers discovered that there were outstanding warrants against Barnett as well. <u>Id</u>. The Second District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's suppression of the stop and arrest and determined that these facts did support a stop.

The Petitioner argues that <u>Barnett</u> is different than the instant case; however, like <u>Smith</u>, the State would submit that the facts of the instant case provide even greater support for a stop. Unlike in <u>Barnett</u>, the officer in this case did not have some general knowledge that the car's owner may have a friend riding with him for which he had a warrant. Instead, the officer in the instant case knew that the owner of the car had no valid license. The officer also knew that the Petitioner had arrived to the earlier place only blocks away in that car. Not being able to see into the car to determine who was driving, the officer acting with reasonable suspicion stopped the car, and upon approaching it, immediately saw someone driving it who he knew had no license. Again, the facts clearly support the trial court's findings, and the Petitioner has failed to show any reason the trial court should be reversed.

#### POINT II

WHETHER A DEFENDANT MUST OBJECT TO THE TRIAL COURT IN ORDER TO PRESERVE THE DIRECT APPEAL OF SENTENCING ISSUES.

This is another sentencing issue case which is before this Court based upon the ruling of the Fifth District Court of Appeal that only sentencing errors which have been preserved can be raised on direct appeal. <u>See</u>, <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), <u>rev</u>. <u>granted</u>, 718 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 1998).<sup>2</sup> This includes any sentencing errors which previously may have been labeled "fundamental." It is the position of the State that this is a correct interpretation of the changes to the appellate process (the new amendments to the rules will be discussed later in this brief). To understand how the Fifth District reached its conclusion, some background review of the previous law in this area is necessary.

First, an examination of case law prior to the Criminal Reform Act shows an inconsistent approach to whether an objection was

The fact that <u>Maddox</u> was an <u>Anders</u> case (<u>Anders v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 738 (1967)) which the appellate court chose to review and evidently easily found sentencing errors illustrates the complexity and constant changing nature of our current sentencing process. This exact point was made by this Court in the recent changes to Florida Rule Criminal Procedure 3.800 when it wrote in regards to sentencing: "[w]hich once was a straightforward function for trial courts, has become increasingly complex as a result of multiple sentencing statutes that often change on a yearly basis." <u>Amendment to Rule 3.800</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S531 (Fla. Nov. 12, 1999).

needed to preserve a sentencing error. In the case <u>Walcott v.</u> State, 460 So. 2d 915, 917-921 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), approved, 472 So. 2d 741 (Fla. 1985), Judge Cowart wrote a detailed analysis of the application of the contemporaneous objection rule to sentencing errors in his concurring opinion which pointed out many of the inconsistencies in the sentencing error cases. Adding to the inconsistencies of the necessity of a contemporaneous objection was the expansive definition of fundamental error when used in the sentencing context.<sup>3</sup> Case law held that an illegal sentencing error was fundamental error since it could cause a defendant to serve a sentence longer than is permitted by law; however, cases called sentencing errors fundamental which ranged from sentences in excess of the statutory maximum to jail credit to improper costs to conditions of probation. <u>See</u>, <u>Larson v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 1991) (illegal conditions of probation can be raised without preservation), <u>Wood v. State</u>, 544 So. 2d 1004 (Fla. 1989), <u>receded</u> from, State v. Beasley, 580 So. 2d 139 (Fla. 1991) (failure to provide defendant notice and opportunity to be heard as to costs imposed constitutes fundamental error), Vause v. State, 502 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (improper imposition of mandatory minimum sentence constituted fundamental error); Ellis v. State, 455 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (error in jail credit fundamental since

The Second District Court wrote that "It is no secret that the courts have struggled to establish a meaningful definition of 'fundamental error' that would be predictive as compared to descriptive." <u>Denson v. State</u>, 711 So. 2d 1225, 1229 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998).

defendant may serve in excess of sentence), <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 444 So. 2d 947 (Fla. 1984), <u>receded from</u>, <u>State v. Beasley</u>, 580 So. 2d 139 (Fla. 1991) (costs could not be imposed without notice).

Eventually it seems, case law evolved which provided that sentencing errors apparent from the record could be reviewed by the appellate court whether preserved or not. <u>See</u>, <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 601 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1992), <u>Dailev v. State</u>, 488 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 1986), <u>State v. Rhoden</u>, 448 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 1984). In <u>Rhoden</u>, the defendant was sentenced as an adult despite the fact he was seventeen years old. <u>Id</u>. at 1015. However, the trial court never addressed the requirements of the statute necessary to sentence a juvenile as an adult. There was no objection at the trial level. <u>Id</u>. The State's argument that the error was not fundamental and that an objection was needed was rejected by this Court which wrote

> If the state's argument is followed to its logical end, a defendant could be sentenced to a term of years greater than the legislature mandated and, if no objection was made **at the time of sentencing**, the defendant could not appeal the illegal sentence.

Id. at 1016, (emphasis added).

The appellate system became more and more clogged with sentencing errors which were either raised for the first time on direct appeal or were not even raised at all by appellate counsel but were simply apparent on the record. As Judge Cowart wrote in his concurrence in the previously referenced <u>Walcott</u>:

> Those who legislate substantive rights and who promulgate procedural rules should consider if the time has not arrived to

take action to improve the present rules The first step might be to and statutes. eliminate these vexatious questions, perhaps by eliminating the right of direct appeal of sentencing errors with the injustice that necessarily attends application of the concept of implied waiver to the failure of counsel to timely, knowingly, and intelligently present appealable sentencing errors for direct appellate review. Perhaps it would be better to have one simple procedure, permitting and requiring, any legal error sentencing that can result in any in disadvantage to а defendant, to be presented once, specifically, explicitly, but at any time to the sentencing court for correction with the right to appeal from an adverse ruling.

460 So. 2d at 920, (emphasis added). More than a decade later, the better, simpler approach urged by Judge Cowart was attempted with an extensive overhaul of the appellate system in regards to criminal appeals. Included in this process was the Criminal Reform Act (Reform Act) which was codified in section 924.051, Fla. Stat. (1997) as well as changes to the Rules of Criminal and Appellate Procedure.

It should be noted there is no right under the United States Constitution to an appeal in a non-capital criminal case. This point was specifically recognized by this Court when it recently wrote

> The United States Supreme Court has consistently pointed out that there is no federal constitutional right of criminal defendants to a direct appeal. <u>Evitts v.</u> <u>Lucey</u>, 469 U.S. 387, 393, 105 S.Ct. 830, 834, 83 L.Ed.2d 821 (1985) ("Almost a century ago the Court held that the Constitution does not require States to grant appeals as of right to criminal

defendants seeking to review alleged trial court errors."). <u>Accord</u>, <u>Abney v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 431 U.S. 651, 656, 97 S.Ct. 2034, 2038-39, 52 L.Ed.2d 651 (1977); <u>Ross v.</u> <u>Moffitt</u>, 417 U.S. 600, 94 S.Ct. 2437, 41 L.Ed.2d 341 (1974).

<u>See</u>, <u>Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure</u>, 685 So. 2d 773, 774 (Fla. 1996). However, this Court also noted that article V, section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution was a constitutional protection of the right to appeal. <u>Id</u>. This Court wrote

> . . . we believe that the legislature may implement this constitutional right and place **reasonable conditions** upon it so long as they do not thwart the litigants' legitimate appellate rights. Of course, **this Court continues to have jurisdiction over the practice and procedure relating to appeals**.

Id. (emphasis added)(footnote omitted).

Immediately after the passage of section 924.051 which was the legislature implementing reasonable conditions upon the right to appeal, this Court exercised its jurisdiction over the appellate process and extensively amended Florida Rule Appellate Procedure 9.140 to work with the Reform Act. As applied to appeals after a plea of guilty or nolo contendere,<sup>4</sup> the amended Rule provided

(2) Pleas. A defendant may not

Many of the appeals being taken occurred after a defendant had negotiated a plea and was sentenced pursuant to his agreement. It is not coincidental that the instant case as well as several of the cases which will be discussed later in this brief were written after defense counsel on appeal had filed and <u>Anders</u> brief. appeal from a guilty or nolo contendere plea except as follows:

(A) A defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere may expressly reserve the right to appeal a prior dispositive order of the lower tribunal, identifying with particularity the point of law being reserved.

(B) A defendant who pleads guilty or nolo contendere may otherwise directly appeal only

(i) the lower tribunal's lack of subject matter jurisdiction;

(ii) a violation of the plea agreement, if preserved by a motion to withdraw plea;

(iii) an involuntary plea, if preserved by a motion to withdraw plea;

(iv) a sentencing error, if preserved; or

(v) as otherwise provided by law.

(emphasis added). The Rule was also further changed in order to specifically refer to sentencing errors:

(d) Sentencing Errors. A sentencing error may not be raised on appeal unless the alleged error has first been brought to the attention of the lower tribunal:

(1) at the time of sentencing; or

(2) by motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b).

The Rule 3.800(b) referred to above was itself completely rewritten to provide that a "defendant may file a motion to correct the sentence or order of probation within thirty days after the rendition of the sentence." It was these specific changes that led the Fifth District Court to find that the concept of fundamental sentencing errors no longer exists.<sup>5</sup> As the court noted, only "preserved" errors can be appealed. Sentencing issues become much more like other issues with there now being a specific requirement that they be preserved in order to be presented on appeal. <u>See</u>, section 90.104(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1997) (requiring a specific objection to preserve an evidentiary issue); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(d) (requiring an objection to preserve a jury instruction issue). Further, the situation that was of concern in <u>Rhoden</u> that the subject matter of the objection would not be known to the defendant until the moment of sentencing is solved by the fact that there is still a thirty (30) day window in which to present any sentencing issues to the trial court for remedy and for preservation.

As the Fifth District Court of Appeal noted

The language of Rule 9.140(b)(2)(B)(iv) could not be clearer. And why should there be 'fundamental' error where the courts have created a '**failsafe**' procedural device to correct any sentencing error or omission at the trial court level?

<u>Id</u>.

As additional support for the fact that fundamental errors only apply to trial errors, the Fifth District Court relied on the case of <u>Summers v. State</u>, 684 So. 2d 729 (Fla. 1996). In <u>Summers</u>, this Court analyzed the issue whether failure to file written reasons to sentence a juvenile as an adult constitutes fundamental error. This Court wrote that:

The trial court's failure to comply with the statutory mandate is a sentencing error, not fundamental error, which must be raised on direct appeal or it is waived.

Elimination of the concept of 'fundamental error' in sentencing will avoid the inconsistency and illogic that plagues the case law and will provide a much-needed clarity, certainty and finality.

Maddox, 708 So. 2d 617, 620 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (emphasis added).

With this as a background, we now turn to the instant case. On direct appeal the Petitioner submitted that his probation period exceeded the statutory maximum and that the trial court imposed special conditions of probation upon him without them being orally pronounced. The State pointed out that none of these issues was presented to the trial court in any manner and that case law now would find them not preserved for appeal. The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment and sentence citing <u>Maddox</u>.

Now the Petitioner is arguing that this error is fundamental and did not have to be presented to the trial court. It is the position of the State that these are the exact types of errors that were intended to be presented to the trial courts prior to being reviewed by the appellate courts. If the probation period was improper, simply file a motion with the trial court so indicating. As to trial court's failure to orally announce the conditions of probation, the Petitioner simply had to object in order to preserve the issue. It is undisputed that he did not.

To repeat the point well made by the Fifth District Court as to the fact that only preserved sentencing errors can be raised on appeal:

> Elimination of the concept of 'fundamental error' in sentencing will avoid the inconsistency and illogic that

plagues the case law and will provide a much-needed clarity, certainty and finality.

<u>Maddox</u>, 708 So. 2d at 620. It is the State's position that this is the very reason that this Court amended the appellate rules specifically to address the appeal of sentencing errors. And to repeat the previously cited amendment of Rule 9.140(d) which specifically addresses the appeal of sentences:

> (d) Sentencing Errors. A sentencing error may not be raised on appeal unless the alleged error has first been brought to the attention of the lower tribunal:

> > (1) at the time of sentencing; or

(2) by motion pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b).

(emphasis added).

Based upon this, it is the State's position that this Court has clearly limited appeals of sentencing errors to only those which are preserved by presentation to the trial court; thus, eliminating the previously expansive exception of so-called fundamental error.

As previously noted, the Respondent is aware of the very recent changes to the criminal and appellate rules of procedure by this Court. The thirty day period was found to be inadequate and has now been expanded up until the time briefs are filed on appeal. <u>See, Amendments to Fla. Rules of Crim. Pro. 3.111(e) & 3.800 & Fla.</u> <u>Rules of App. Pro. 9.010(h) 9.140, & 9.600, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S530</u> (Fla. Nov. 12, 1999). Additionally, the Clerk's office is now required to forward a copy of the judgment and sentence to the defense attorney within fifteen days of the sentencing. However, despite these adjustments to the Reform Act, the overall point is the same - sentencing errors should be presented to the trial court in order to be preserved. With this added safety net for preservation, the goal of the Reform Act is strengthened even more. Furthermore, Rule 3.800(a) which allows a defendant to correct an illegal sentence and Rule 3.850 in which a defendant can prove ineffective assistance of counsel both still exist for errors not "caught" under the current system.

It has been said that there is no such thing as an error-free trial, and it is becoming more and more apparent that the same is true of sentencing. Clearly, no one should have to serve an illegal sentence; however, it is not unfair to require that sentencing errors should be presented to the trial courts in order to be preserved for appeal. Simply labeling almost any error as "fundamental" should not forgive the failure to preserve the issue as required by the rules. These issues were never presented to the trial court and should not now be allowed to be raised for the first time on direct appeal.

### CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented above, the State respectfully prays this Honorable Court affirm the holding of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.